IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC02-636

v.

DONN DUNCAN,

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DOUGLAS T. SQUIRE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0088730

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 Telephone: (386)238-4990 Facsimile: (386)226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
ISSUE
WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED BY FINDING THAT "[I]N THE ABSENCE OF A SPECIFIC REASON [FOR EXPLAINING WHY DR. BERLAND WAS NOT CALLED TO PRESENT MENTAL HEALTH MITIGATION], THE COURT [WAS] CONSTRAINED TO FIND THAT MR. DUNCAN'S
ALLEGATION HAD SATISFIED THE PERFORMANCE PRONG OF STRICKLAND."
CONCLUSION
SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY AND CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 19
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>PAGE (S</u>
FEDERAL CASES
Burger, 107 S. Ct. at 3124 14, 15
<u>Chandler v. United States</u> , 218 F.3d 1305 (11th Cir. 2000)14, 16
<u>Collier v. Turpin</u> , 177 F.3d 1184 (11th Cir.1999) 13
<u>Darden v. Wainwright</u> , 106 S. Ct. 2464 (1986) 14, 16
<u>Grayson v. Thompson</u> , 257 F.3d 1194 (11th Cir. 2001) 14
<u>Harich v. Dugger</u> , 844 F.2d 1464 (11th Cir.1988) 14
Provenzano v. Singletary, 148 F.3d 1327 (11th Cir.1998) . 14
Strickland v. Washington, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)
<u>United States v. Fortson</u> , 194 F.3d 730 (6th Cir.1999) 14, 16
<u>Waters v. Thomas</u> , 46 F.3d 1506 (11th Cir. 1995) 14, 16
Williams v. Taylor, 120 S. Ct. 1495 (2000) 12, 14
STATE CASES
<u>Asay v. State</u> , 769 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2000) 16
<u>Duncan v. State</u> , 619 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 1993) 1, 3
<u>Gudinas v. State</u> , 816 So. 2d 1095 (Fla. 2002) 16
<u>Jones v. State</u> , 732 So. 2d 313 (Fla. 1999) 16
<u>State v. Freeman</u> , 796 So. 2d 574 (Fla. 2001) 16
<u>Stephens v. State</u> , 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla.1999) 12
OTHER
Fla. R. App. P. 9.210

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Appellant, the prosecution, or the State. Appellee, Donn Duncan, the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Appellee or his proper name.

The record on appeal consists of eleven volumes, which will be referenced by the letter "R," followed by any appropriate page number.

All bold-type emphasis is supplied, and all other emphasis is contained within original quotations unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The trial court set out the facts and procedural history of the instant case as follows:

The facts of this case, as set forth by the Supreme Court of Florida in <u>Duncan v. State</u>, 619 So.2d 279, 280 (Fla. 1993), as follows:

On the morning of December 29, 1990, Donn A. Duncan murdered his fiancee, Deborah Bauer. At the time of the murder, Duncan was living with Deborah Bauer, Deborah's daughter, Carrieanne Bauer, and her mother, Antoinette Blakeley. During the evening hours of December 28, 1990, Deborah left the house apparently to go drinking. Duncan left a short time later. When Duncan returned home around 8:30 p.m., he told Antoinette that Deborah would not be home until later because she had gone off with a guy who was going to buy her beer because Duncan had refused to do so. Duncan also told Antoinette to ask Deborah to sleep on the couch because he did not want to argue with her and that he would be leaving in the morning. Duncan then went into the bedroom, where he remained until the next morning.

When Deborah returned around 10:30 p.m., her mother told her not to go into the bedroom because Duncan did not want to be bothered. A short time later Deborah went into the bedroom to get some cigarettes but left the room after a couple of minutes. Neither Antoinette nor Carrieanne heard any arguing or fighting while Deborah was in the room. Deborah slept in the living room with her mother and daughter, neither of whom was aware of any further contact between Duncan and Deborah during the night.

The next morning, Deborah went outside to smoke a cigarette. While Deborah was on the front porch, Duncan got up. Antoinette told him "there is the door," indicating that he should leave. After he and Antoinette exchanged words, Duncan put on a jacket and walked out on the porch where Deborah was sitting, smoking a cigarette. Duncan stood behind Deborah for a few seconds and then stabbed her multiple times with a kitchen knife he had hidden in his jacket. When Carrieanne responded to her mother's screams, Duncan approached Carrieanne with the knife and asked, "You want it too?" Believing Duncan would stab her too, Carrieanne ran and hid in the closet.

When Antoinette asked a neighbor who had witnessed the attack to call 911 because her daughter had been stabbed, Duncan said, "Yeah, I did it on purpose. I'll sit here and wait for the cops." Duncan, who had thrown the knife on the ground, then waited until police arrived. Upon their arrival, Duncan told police, "I stabbed her." After being advised of his rights, Duncan told police that he and the victim had been arguing and that he remembered going outside and stabbing her twice. In a signed statement, Duncan wrote:

I walked out the door with the knife and stabbed Debbie as she was sitting on the stoop. I think I stabbed her twice. I saw her go off with two guys last night she came home about 1:00 a.m. and I guess I went nuts.

Deborah Bauer died two hours after the attack. The cause of death was a stab wound to the right chest. According to the medical examiner, the victim also had suffered two life threatening wounds to the back and three defensive wounds, one to each arm and one to her leg.

Duncan was charged with and convicted of the first-degree murder of Deborah Bauer and aggravated

assault on Carrieanne Bauer. He was sentenced to three and one-half years' imprisonment on the aggravated assault. In accordance with the jury's twelve-to-zero recommendation of death, the trial judge sentenced Duncan to death for the first-degree murder.

In aggravation, the trial court found that Duncan had previously been convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence--the aggravated assault on Carrieanne and the second-degree murder of a fellow inmate in 1969. In mitigation, the trial court considered the following fifteen mitigating factors urged by the defendant: 1) Duncan's childhood and upbringing saddled him with an emotional handicap; Duncan's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired at the time of the crime; 3) Duncan was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the killing; 4) the defendant was under the influence of alcohol at the time of the killing; 5) the killing was not for financial gain; 6) the killing did not create a great risk of death to many persons; 7) the killing did not occur while Duncan was committing another crime; 8) the victim was not a stranger; 9) the victim was not a child; 10) Duncan was a good, dependable, and capable 11) Duncan was a good listener employee; supportive friend; 12) Duncan had satisfactorily completed his parole and was discharged from parole; 13) Duncan confessed to the killing; 14) the killing came as a result of and subsequent to a domestic 15) Deborah Bauer chose Donn Duncan to be dispute; her husband.

All issues on appeal concerned the sentencing phase of the trial. Mr. Duncan raised the following claims: 1) his death sentence is disproportionate and is cruel or unusual punishment; 2) it was reversible error to admit a gruesome photograph of the victim of the 1969 murder; and 3) the trial court erred in refusing to give numerous special jury instructions. Duncan, 619 So.2d at 281. The Supreme Court of Florida affirmed Mr. Duncan's conviction and sentence.

The State cross-appealed the trial court's findings that 1) Mr. Duncan was under the influence of alcohol at the time of the murder; 2) Duncan was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the murder; and 3) Mr. Duncan's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. The Supreme Court agreed

with the State, and found that there was sufficient evidentiary basis for the challenged findings. <u>Duncan</u>, 619 So.2d at 282.

(R, 1757-59).

On May 2, 1995, Duncan filed a Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentences with Special Request for Leave to Amend. (R, 784-820). On July 10, 1998, the circuit court held a <u>Huff</u> hearing to determine whether an evidentiary hearing would be required on the claims raised in Mr. Duncan's motion. The circuit court found that an evidentiary hearing would be required on the following claims:

- 1. Claim VIII only as to sub-claims of ineffective assistance of counsel at guilt phase as the relate to mental health issues and to concession of guilt
- 2. Claim IX ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase
- 3. Claim X only as Claims VIII and IX impact Claim X regarding counsel's alleged ineffectiveness as it relates to mental health experts.

On December 14, 1999, the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing which was continued on June 12 and June 13, 2000. At that hearing, Duncan presented the following witnesses: Edwin Cluster, Janet Felty, trial defense attorney Robert Larr, trial defense attorney Louis Lorincz, Francis Eugene Mulcahy, Jonathan Lipman, and Robert Berland. The State presented the following witnesses: James Upson, Jeff Jackson, Renee Boudreaux, Don

Nazarchuk, Keith Hubbard, Michael Stenkamp, Antoinette Blakely, Carrieann Bauer, and trial defense attorney Lou Lorincz.

(R, 1759-60).

The trial court made the following findings of fact regarding "SUBCLAIM IX-A:"

Mr. Duncan claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce available mental health mitigation that could have led the jury to recommend a life sentence. At the evidentiary hearing, the Court heard testimony from Dr. Berland about the information he had available to him before Mr. Duncan's trial and the opinion he had formed based on that information:

I had testing data which indicated to me the existence of mental illness, significant biologically-determined mental illness, psychosis, but in very hidden ambulatory form, meaning he could walk and talk and wouldn't look the part. I also had testing which suggested brain injury, cortical brain injury, but no definitive history of head injury from him.

So as has been my custom since 1980 or 81, I sought contact with some lay witne,5aes who would have had intimate knowledge of him, my favorite formal witnesses being exwives and ex-girlfriends and finally tracked down one of his ex-wives with whom I spoke in I believe it was June of '91, early in June, June 4th, I think, and she was memorable to me because, one, she corroborated symptoms of a psychotic disturbance in him that I detected in his very hidden MMPL She also corroborated some other things such as significant drug abuse.

But for reasons that I have absolutely no recollection of, I did not continue down the road suggested by that lay witness and the case basically was terminated at that point.

Q: You said that you don't recollect why you didn't continue down the road suggested by the witness?

A: I have no recollection of what my interactions were with Mr. Lorincz at all, I don't -- I don't recall having been given an explanation. I just know that the file went that far, that was what I would call a break-through witness and then it just ended and I have no recollection as to why.

Q: Would that be something on your own that you would not pursue?

A: Well, again, from my point of view, that was a break-through witness which confirmed what I knew. The MMPI never lies in my experience. And sometimes it's hard to find the corroboration that you know will exist out there but once you open the door, then you know there's more out there. So my normal reaction to that kind of a situation would have been to pursue more lay witnesses, I've been ready to go to trial in cases where all I had were lay witness evidence and nothing usable from the defendant.

In one case I'm thinking of, we were going to go on attempted first degree murder case where the defendant faked, different case, he faked all of his responses to me so I had nothing from him but I had excellent data from all the lay witnesses, people who hated him corroborating what I thought was wrong with him and we were ready to go to trial until the case pled.

So my normal approach would be having now found one witness, to go ahead and get more because it's not sufficient in my opinion, it was enough to tell me what was there but I would want more than that to go to trial on.

Q: So if you had been told to continue on and to go get more witnesses, you would have done that?

A: Yes. I kind of basically take a bulldog approach to those things.

Q: In 1991, what kind of an evaluation did you do on Mr. Duncan?

A: Well, at that time, I did clinical eval -- a clinical evaluation or diagnostic evaluation and then at least made some preliminary efforts, I would have made some preliminary efforts to do a clinical legal evaluation to look at various issues where mental, health issues are raised in the legal context.

Q: What is a diagnostic evaluation?

A: Well, I'm just trying to find out initially if there's evidence of mental illness. In my case, I look primarily at psychosis just because I believe that's the main kind of mental illness that has enough impact on someone to make a difference in the criminal justice system.

Q: And what is a clinical legal evaluation?

A: That is where you're assessing, if you find they're mentally ill and/or and of extreme low intellect, then you look at issues like whether they're competent to proceed to trial, sane at the time of the offense, capable of forming specific intent, whether there's evidence of mitigation for capital sentencing, those kind of clinical legal issues.

(See transcript pages J25-J27).

- Dr. Berland also testified as to specific information that he found about Mr. Duncan's mental health:
- Q: So the MMPI that you administered in 1991, what does that show about Mr. Duncan?
- A: Just that the issue that I was trying to discern with it was is there evidence of psychosis. And in my opinion, there was evidence of a chronic psychotic disturbance in his MMPI responses.
- Q: And you had that information back in 1991 when you were working on the -on this before Mr. Duncan went to trial?
- A: Yes. I_administered the MMPI on March 26th, '91, and I normally score it the same day or the next day. The MMPI's are a favorite of mine and I can't wait to see the results so I score them very quickly.
- Q: And would you have relayed that information to the trial attorney, to Mr. Duncan's trial attorney?
- A: It's always been my custom to call and keep people up with my findings as I develop them. I don't recall when I began actually faxing profiles to people, I can't say that I did that back then. My custom pretty much since I've had access to a fax has been to fax them a copy of the profile for their file so that -- explain it to them on the phone, so I have no direct recollection of interacting with him and I, of course, didn't bring my time logs from my vehicle with me but it was my uniform custom since I began doing this to relate the findings to the attorney as I found them, especially this initial one. I always give the MMPI first and that's sort of the key to the door.

Do we even think we're going to have anything to work with or not? So typically I'm involved in discussing with them, yes, there is something to work on or no, the MMPI doesn't appear to show anything and, you know, I will look at some other things but the chances of there being anything go down dramatically.

Q: But in this case, the MMPI did show something to you?

- A: That was my opinion then and now, yes.
- Q: You mentioned that those results could be subject to dispute. Is there something else that you would do to try to substantiate your view on that?
- A: Well, as I said, I don't believe in relying on one data source anyway but knowing the arena which is operated, I wouldn't go in relying just on these data because they're subtle, he is trying very hard to hide and it would be subject to some dispute by people as to whether this represented mental illness, though to me it did. What this was to me was a prompting to go looking in other avenues for evidence of mental illness.
- Q:. The MMPI that you administered in 1991, did you find any evidence of malingering?
- A: No. The opposite. That he was trying to suppress or hide mental illness.

(See transcript pages J40-J42).

- Dr. Berland went on to discuss his the significance of his test results, his interviews of Mr. Duncan, and his interviews of lay witnesses. (See transcript pages J79-J81). When asked whether he had been prepared to testify about his opinion at Mr. Duncan's trial, Dr. Berland said that he had been:
- Q: All right. I'm saying the basis of what you could testify to that it was extreme, what you knew about Mr. Duncan?
- A: The basis for being able to testify that he was mentally ill?
- Q: Right.
- A: Yes. I had that then, I felt the combined impact of -or import, I'm sorry, of his MMPI, his WAIS, and especially
 the responses I got from Dianne Goodman told me he had
 psychotic disturbance that may, in fact, have been at least
 in part secondary to a brain injury.
- Q: So, if Mr. Lorincz had called you in 1991 to testify, you could have testified to all those things that would be the basis for the statutory minimal mitigator of under extreme mental or emotional disturbance and then left it to the jury to decide whether or not it was extreme?

- A: I think I see what you're saying. I could have testified as to what I just said. I would think it would be a better presentation to go forward with more lay witnesses but if this was all I had, it was enough to convince me that I had something substantial.
- Q: Okay. And you also, as far as the other minimum mitigator that -- the person's ability to conform his conduct to the law or appreciate the criminality of his conduct was substantially impaired, you had the basis to present that to a jury that that finding could have been made?
- A: One part of that dichotomy, that his capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was impaired and again the question is at that time, what does substantial mean.
- Q: Okay. And that would have been -- but you would have been able to present things to the jury from which they would have been able to find that?
- A: I would have been able to present the impact of his mental illness compounded by his recent history of drug and alcohol use on his mental state, yes.

(See transcript page J82-J83).

Dr. Berland was unable to remember the content of his communications with Mr. Lorincz, and his notes indicated only minimal consultation. (See transcript pages J72-J77). He indicated that he certainly would have informed Mr. Lorincz of his opinion that Mr. Duncan had a hidden psychosis. (See transcript pages J122-J123). Dr. Berland went on to explain that had he been given the opportunity to do so, he would have continued to investigate Mr. Duncan's mental health through additional investigation into his personal history. (See transcript pages J90-J92). Dr. Berland also testified that through his investigation into Mr. Duncan's history for postconviction proceeding, "he found enough evidence to present and . . . show the existence of not only one and a half of the statutory mitigator [sic] but a series of seven additional nonstatutory mitigators." (See transcript pages J108, J115-J117). Regardless, although he indicated that he would have preferred to conduct additional investigation, jar. Berland testified definitively that he was prepared to testify at the penalty phase proceeding about Mr. Duncan's mental health problems. (See transcript pages J153-J156).

Based on Dr. Berland's testimony, the Court finds that counsel knew or should have known of the existence of

various mitigating factors that could have been presented during the penalty phase. The onus is therefore on the State to demonstrate that counsel had a valid strategic or tactical basis for declining to present those factors.

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