#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC02-636** 

# STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

# DONN DUNCAN,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE AND INITIAL BRIEF OF THE CROSS-APPELLANT

LESLIE ANNE SCALLEY FLORIDA BAR NO. 0174981 ASSISTANT CCC

KEVIN T. BECK FLORIDA BAR NO. 0802719 ASSISTANT CCC CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION 3801 Corporex Park Drive Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619 813-740-3544

# COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT **

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

# **ANSWER BRIEF**

ARGUMENT I: The circuit court used the correct law and did not abuse its discretion in holding that counsel's failure to present mental health mitigation at Donn Duncan's penalty phase was ineffective assistance of counsel.

#### CROSS-APPEAL

ARGUMENT I: The circuit erred in finding that Mr. Duncan was not deprived of the effective assistance of counsel at the guilt phase, where counsel began by essentially pleading Mr. Duncan guilty to second degree murder, did not pursue an available and viable voluntary intoxication defense, neglected to object to the prejudicial display of slides and introduction of pictures which caused a juror to lose consciousness and be excused from service, and ended by pleading Mr. Duncan to second or, depending on the jurors' understanding of the law and counsel's closing argument, first degree murder. The circuit court also erred in finding that counsel's failure to present mitigating evidence of and challenge the 1969 prior violent felony aggravator and present mitigating evidence of Donn Duncan's good prison record was not ineffective assistance of counsel.

ARGUMENT II: The evidence established throughout Mr. Duncan's death penalty proceedings proves that his was not one of the most aggravated and least mitigated crimes. When this Court conducted a proportionality review of Mr.Duncan's death sentence on direct appeal, there was, due to penalty phase counsel's ineffective assistance, essentially no mitigation to weigh against the sole aggravator. Postconviction proceedings, however, revealed extensive and substantial mitigation that proves death is a disproportional punishment for Mr. Duncan.

ARGUMENT III: To the extent it has and continues to preclude undersigned counsel from investigating and presenting claims that can only be discovered through interviews with jurors, Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar is unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT IV: The cumulative effect of the errors that occurred during Mr. Duncan's trial violated his Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights to a fair trial.

#### **ANSWER BRIEF**

#### **ARGUMENT I**

THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DETERMINING THAT COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT MENTAL MITIGATION AT MR. DUNCAN'S PENALTY PHASE WAS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WHICH VIOLATED MR. DUNCAN'S RIGHTS UNDER THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND THE CORRESPONDING PROVISIONS OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

#### 1. Standard of Review

Appellant did not completely state the correct standard of review for ineffective assistance of counsel claims, failing to note the discretion that this Court gives to circuit court findings of fact.

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims present a mixed question of law and fact subject to plenary review based on the *Strickland* test. This requires an independant review of the trial court's legal conclusions, while giving deference to the trial court's factual findings.

Reichmann v. State, 777 So.2d 342, 350 (Fla.2000)(internal citations omitted)(emphasis added).

So long as its decisions are supported by competent

substantial evidence, this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact and, likewise, on the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given the evidence by the trial court. We recognize and honor the trial court's superior vantage point in assessing the credibility of witnesses and in making findings of fact.

Porter v. State, 788 So.2d 917, 923 (Fla.2001)(emphasis added).

# 2. The Circuit Court's Findings of Fact

The circuit court made a clear finding of fact that:

Based on Dr. Berland's testimony, the Court finds that counsel knew or should have known of the existence of various mitigating factors that could have been presented during the penalty phase.

(PCR V11 1772). This finding is supported Dr. Berland's unrebutted testimony that the murder resulted from one of Mr. Duncan's life-long paranoid delusions caused by brain injury and biological psychosis. Because Deborah Bauer left Donn Duncan to drink beer with another man the night before the killing, Mr. Duncan had a basis for his psychotic delusion that Deborah Bauer was having an affair and perhaps leaving him, and this resulted in the crime (PCR V3, 436-40). For that reason, Mr. Duncan was under an extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the crime and his ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired (PCR V1 108, 115-17). Additionally, the toxic build up of

cocaine and alcohol in Mr. Duncan's system exacerbated his delusional paranoid psychosis at the time of the crime, Mr. Duncan suffered from post traumatic stress disorder, endogenous depression, brain injury, and an extensive history of lethal drug and alcohol abuse (PCR V1 28, 39, 48, 50, 56, 65, 66; V3 439, 440).

The circuit court's finding that "mental health mitigators which could have affected the outcome of the penalty phase were available but not introduced cannot be refuted from the record, and was not refuted at the evidentiary hearing" is further supported by the unrebutted testimony of several witnesses who testified, both for the state and the defense, at the evidentiary hearing (PCR V11 1774).

Alice Porter, Donn Duncan's ex-wife, began dating Donn Duncan when he was seventeen years old. At that time, Donn Duncan routinely drank alcohol to the point of unconsciousness or blacking out, which she described as being conscious but completely dissociated from reality. During that time, Mrs. Porter saw Donn Duncan suffer two severe head injuries and noted that his behavior changed after those injuries. Mrs. Porter testified that, after the injuries, "it was like he was Donn but he was someone different" (PCR V5 530).

Donn and I used to get along extremely well, and it seemed like after the accidents that things started changing a little. Like it was to where he didn't trust me or trust probably anybody.

\* \* \*

I never would have described Donn as being paranoid when I met him because he seemed to be kind of outgoing, you know, but afterwards it was like – it was like he was Donn but he was someone different. He had a different look to him, a different attitude. He became very paranoid.

# (PCR V5 530).

But if there were other people around that he didn't know, he thought they were, you know, looking at him or talking about him, you know, which really didn't matter. . . .He was always very paranoid of other people in large settings.

#### (PCR V5 531).

- A. . . . Well, he used to think that like sometimes he would say, well, who were you talking to, you know, or who was that, and there would be nobody –
- Q. And you weren't talking to anybody?
- A. No.
- Q. And there was nobody there?
- A. No.

# (PCR V5 535).

Donn Duncan was paranoid, introverted, and thought people were talking about him and considered him crazy (PCR V5 530-31). This behavior worsened

with alcohol (PCR V5 531). Mrs. Porter testified that Donn Duncan seemed to have two different behaviors; he usually treated her very well, but once he beat her because "they told him to" (PCR V5 533-35). No one else was present, so Mrs. Porter did not know who "they" were (PCR V5 533). Donn Duncan's paranoia worsened to the extent that he would not go anyplace public, he heard voices and noises, and he would often "get a look like, I don't like saying this, but he would get a look like, you know, the lights are on but nobody's home" (PCR V5 534).

Mrs. Porter also testified that Donn Duncan supported her through her father's death, and "if it hadn't been for Donn, I wouldn't have wanted to go on" (PCR V5 538).

Though Mrs. Porter was married to Donn Duncan and knew his sister, Una, Mrs. Porter has had the same name since 1981, and has continuously lived in the same house where she was born and raised, counsel did not contact her (PCR V5 539-40, 543). Had counsel contacted her, Mrs. Porter would have provided the same information she provided to Dr. Berland and Dr. Lipman for the evidentiary hearing, and she would have testified.

Janet Felty met Donn Duncan in 1978, when he dated and married her sister, Diane Goodman. Mrs. Felty often spent time with Donn Duncan and noticed that, without reason, he feared meeting new people and going to public places. He

believed people who did not know him disliked him, talked about him, and stared at him (PCR V5 519-20).

He could change in a split second. When we were around several people and if a couple of people were talking, he always assumed they were saying things about him. We tried to let him know that they weren't, you know, he was just paranoid. I mean, he just – he just always thought people didn't like him.

(PCR V5 519). She observed Donn Duncan talking to himself and many instances when he would stare blankly and not respond (PCR V5 520-21). She repeatedly described him as paranoid (PCR V5 519-20).

Mrs. Felty also described Donn Duncan's crazed reaction to his son's death (PCR V5 521-24).

He didn't sleep. When I was around, he just couldn't sleep. It was just – the day of the – the night before, when we went to the funeral home, we didn't even know if Donn was going to be there. He was just so – different. He did show up about 30 minutes before, and he was just really tore up. He was – I mean, it was his son. The day of the funeral, he did go to the cemetery with us, and we were all together that afternoon. Finally that night I went home. I said, you know, you all need to rest because you haven't had any sleep and you just need to lie down. I had been home 45 minutes to an hour, and I got a phone call and they told me that I needed to get to my sister's. When I got there, Donn was busting up the windows. He had busted up just things inside the house. He had almost destroyed it. We didn't know what to do. We took him to the emergency room to see – well, first

the law came. We called. We didn't know what to do. They said that he was in grief, so they couldn't do anything to him.

We took him to the emergency room, and I asked them, I said, can you just give him something to knock him out, just to help him sleep, to get over this? So they said they did. We were on our way home and we thought that he was relaxed, you know, and calmed down; and as soon as he got out of the car, he just went and started doing it again. He just had this look in his eyes. We called the law again, and they said the only thing that we could do was have him committed, and my sister said she couldn't do that to him because of what he had been through.

\* \* \*

My sister, I took my sister to a friend's house. Eventually, yes, I did leave, but we thought he had finally laid down and slept and turned up missing. We didn't know where he was. We looked and looked, and the next day we found him at the cemetery laying on his son's grave.

(PCR V5 522-24). Counsel did not contact Mrs. Felty, but if he had, she would have testified and provided this information to Donn Duncan's mental health experts (PCR V5 524).

Frank Mulcahy was Donn Duncan's life-long friend and roommate. Mr.

Mulcahy met Donn when they were children and described their continuous and escalating drug abuse. Mr. Mulcahy used drugs with Donn Duncan while they were

teenagers, in prison, and used crack cocaine, marijuana, dilaudids, and alcohol daily with Mr. Duncan in the late 1980s.

- Q. Did Donn use a lot of crack?
- A. Well, when he got smoking it he did. He didn't realize it, but he did.
- Q. About how often would Donn smoke crack?
- A. Smoked it every day.
- Q. How many times a day?
- A. Well, how much was available? If we had 100 rocks, we would probably smoke them in one day if that was the case.

(PCR V6 635-36).

Mr. Mulcahy confirmed that Mr. Duncan hallucinated; he heard Donn Duncan "hollering at somebody and not coherent. Sometimes it would be like a dream, cursing somebody out or something." (PCR V6 681). Mr. Mulcahy saw Donn Duncan pass out and suffer head injuries. Counsel did not contact Mr. Mulcahy, but if they had, he would have testified (PCR V6 691).

Dr. Lipman testified that Donn Duncan's chronic alcohol abuse had a reversible poisoning effect on his brain, which rendered him almost always, including the morning of the crime, impaired. Because Donn Duncan was a chronic

alcoholic and drug user, he could easily mask his affected behavior so that ordinary people, such as Carianne Bauer, Antoinette Blakely, and the arresting officers, would think he was sober. This poisoning effect exacerbated Donn Duncan's underlying mental illness and affected his behavior the morning of the crime.

I would have testified that he had a long and serious drug history; that it began with alcohol at an early age; that it involved a period of intravenous stimulant abuse of various types of stimulants including amphetamine. Later he began to use depressants which we call speed balling, the sequential or continuous use of stimulants and depressants; and that he had used these drugs to the point of experiencing psychotic episodes due to them, hallucinations of movement, of sound.

I would have reported that he then went on to use cocaine which is another psychostimulant; that in the months before the offense, he deteriorated sociologically, we might say, becoming transient, losing contact with friends and his family, regularly using alcohol and cocaine; and that he was living as a semi-transient, losing contact with his friends and his family, regularly using alcohol and cocaine; and that he was living as a semi-transient at the time of the offense. He was experiencing jealousy and paranoia; and that his manner of using alcohol and cocaine over the months that he was using it consistent with what we know to produce a persistent and residual neurointoxication.

I think I did opine that based on the description of how much alcohol he had drunk in the hours before the offense, that I could not be confident about his alcohol concentration in his blood at the time of the offense, but that it would be low, and probably would be zero. I've since looked at those concentrations a little more, and I'm no more confident now than I was before, but I could describe the reasons for my uncertainty, if you would like.

Certainly, though, he was using alcohol in the weeks before the offense very severely, as well as cocaine, such that his blood alcohol concentration would have been very, very high. Not only when he went to bed but also when he woke up in the mornings. Basically he was drunk all the time. This produces persistent effects on the brain which we pharmacologists measure, and one takes considerable time to recover from them. . . . Weeks or months to recover completely. In some cases the individual doesn't recover completely. This has to do with diet and the amount of thiamine in the diet during the time of intoxication particularly. It can cause a Wernicke's or Korsakoff's, and there are some other neurological deteriorations that can be permanent also. But at the very least, it produces a neurointoxication that is measured by tests that we call physiological/psychological tests, some of which are also used by neuropsychologists.

... Now, let me also explain that although its generally true for anyone, the drinks and the manner that he drinks or did at the time, the exact form, the behavioral form of the deficit, of the derangement of his brain function, is going to have a great deal of dependance on his underlying psychological structure.

Now, for this I was dependant on Dr. Berland's consultation, and from what little he had done at the time that I consulted him by phone in 1991, he told me that he knew Donn Duncan to be personality disordered of an organic typology and paranoid. That comported with my own opinion at the time.

(PCR V6 703-5).

He is very finely balanced. His state of normality is retained by his exerting enormous energy, and these cause him to anchor his behavior by restraint and inhibition. The effect of eroding restraint or inhibition will provoke him into an abnormal behavioral state.

Now, a psychologist would see that as a prediliction toward the forces that cause the state, such as, for instance, Dr. Berland's conclusion to me that the man has paranoid thoughts and delusional thoughts. When you erode restraint and inhibition, that's all you have left. You have irrationality fearful paranoid delusional thinking that motivates the person's behavior. My contribution then would have been, had I testified, to an explication of how the drug and alcohol use contributed to that discontrol.

(PCR V6 716). Mr. Duncan was under an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime and his ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired (PCR V6 720).

Carrieann Bauer, the victim's daughter, confirmed that Mr. Duncan's paranoid behavior continued up to the day of the crime.

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